# IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NUMBER 2007-CA-00593

# CHARLIE DOYLE WIMLEY, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFCIARIES OF JEANETTE DOYLE

APPELLANTS

v.

ł

ſ

τ

Ĺ

i

NO.: 2007-CA-00593

**BILL REID, CRNA, AND JOHN DOES 1-10** 

**APPELLEES** 

## **APPELLANT'S BRIEF**

DENNIS C. SWEET, III Sweet & Associates City Centre Building 158 East Pascagoula Street Jackson, MS 39201 Telephone: 601-965-8700 Facsimile: 601-965-8719

**COUNSEL FOR APPELLANTS** 

### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

# CHARLIE DOYLE WIMLEY, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFCIARIES OF JEANETTE DOYLE

APPELLANTS

V.

NO.: 2007-CA-00593

# STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE

 I. Whether Failure to File a Certificate of Consultation with the Complaint Pursuant to Mississippi Code Annotated Section 11-1-58 Entitles a Defendant to a Dismissal with Prejudice and Plaintiff is not Entitled to any Opportunity to Correct the Deficiency.

r

1

### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

### I. Nature of the Case

.

t

ċ

r

ί.

The instant action involves the wrongful death of Ms. Jeanette Doyle. Charlie Doyle Wimley (hereinafter referenced as "Appellant") brought a claim for medical malpractice on behalf of Ms. Doyle against Coleman Cataract and Eye Laser Surgery Center, Inc., Michael Coleman, M.D., Denise Young, R.N., Bill Reid, CRNA, B. Robbins, R.N., C. Larry, R.N., and John Does 1-10. This appeal arises from an order of the Circuit Court of Leflore County, Mississippi granting Appellee, Bill Reid's, CRNA, (hereinafter referenced as "Appellee") Motion to Dismiss and dismissing plaintiff's cause of action with prejudice. R. at 183. Contrary to the trial court's conclusion, Appellant contends that they should have been allowed to amend their complaint when a Motion to Amend had been filed well within a reasonable time after discovering that the certificate had not been filed.

## II. Course of Proceedings and Disposition in the Court Below

On or about February 22, 2005, Appellant timely filed a complaint alleging *inter alia*, wrongful death and medical malpractice against Coleman Cataract and Eye Laser Surgery Center, Inc., Michael Coleman, M.D., Denise Young, R.N., Bill Reid, CRNA, B. Robbins, R.N., C. Larry, R.N., and John Does 1-10. R. at 1. At the time of filing the complaint, Omar L. Nelson, Esq. failed to attach an attorney's certificate of consultation or an expert disclosure in lieu of the certificate as required by Mississippi Code Annotated Section 11-1-58 (Supp. 2006). R. at 33; 37. On or about May 6, 2005, Appellee filed his answers and defenses. R. at 22. Within his answer, Appellee states that Appellant failed to comply with the "medical malpractice reform laws passed in

2002 and 2003." R. at 22. Appellee did not file a separate motion and did not bring this matter for hearing. On or about May 11, 2005, Omar L. Nelson, Esq. filed the attorney's certificate of consultation. R. at 33. Thereafter, on or about May 25, 2005, Omar L. Nelson, Esq. filed a motion for leave to amend the complaint in an effort to attach a copy of the attorney's certificate of consultation to the filed complaint. R. at 37, et. seq. Appellant's motion for leave to amend was filed within a reasonable time after discovery that the certificated of consultation had not been filed. The trial court refused to rule on Appellant's motion or grant any relief. Appellee as well as the other defendants responded in opposition to Appellant's Motion for Leave and at that time, filed motions to dismiss. The motion for leave to amend as well as the motions to dismiss was heard before the Honorable W. Ashley Hines on or about October 24, 2005. T. R. at 1-12. Even though Plaintiffs timely filed their motion for leave to amend and brought it on for hearing, the trial court failed to ever rule on said motion. On or about March 19, 2007, Appellee later filed a renewed motion to dismiss filed. On April 6, 2007, the motion was granted and the court dismissed the case with prejudice. R. at 176; 183. Appellant then filed a Notice of Appeal. Appellant asks this court to reverse the Circuit Court's dismissal of this action.

### III. Statement of the Facts

÷.

ξ.

On or about May 13, 2003, Jeanette Doyle, accompanied by her daughter, Charlie Doyle Wimley, presented to the Coleman Eye Surgery Center for cataract extraction. At the time of her treatment, Jeanette Doyle, was sixty-two years old and had a history of asthma, diabetes and other respiratory diseases. Prior to her May 13, 2003 visit, Jeanette Doyle was diagnosed by Dr. Michael Coleman as having glaucoma and right eye

cataract. During the May 13, 2003 procedure, Jeanette Doyle was put under via a local anesthetic. During her treatment, Ms. Doyle had an asthmatic attack and/or some other respiratory difficult while at the Coleman Eye Surgery Center. Thereafter, personnel at the Coleman Eye Surgery Center, sought emergency medical services for Jeanette Doyle and transferred her to Greenwood Leflore Hospital. On or about May 15, 2003, Jeanette Doyle subsequently died. Appellant contends that Jeanette Doyle died an untimely and preventable death.

ŗ

i

,

.

i.

ſ

Appellant contends that there were several breaches of the standard of care in the instant matter, including but not limited to Appellee's failure to interpret the diagnostic tests and properly identify and treat Ms. Doyle's abnormal signs, symptoms, previous diagnosis, medical history and etc. on or before May 13, 2005. Appellants further contend that if Appellee had properly investigated Ms. Doyle's prior medical history, they would have determined that outpatient surgery was inappropriate for Ms. Doyle. Further, Appellee breached the standard of care for a certified registered nurse anesthetist. As a result of Appellees' numerous breaches of the standard of care, Ms. Jeanette Doyle's life unnecessarily ended on May 15, 2003.

### **STANDARD OF REVIEW**

On appeal, the standard of review for granting a motion to dismiss is de novo. Scaggs v. GPCH-GP, Inc., 931 So.2d 1274, 1275 (Miss. 2006); Carter v. Citigroup, Inc., 938 So.2d 809, 817 (Miss, 2006). The Mississippi Supreme Court and the Court of Appeals review a trial court grant or denial of a motion for summary judgment or to dismiss under a de novo standard. Monsanto v. Hall, 912 So.2d 134, 136 (Miss. 2005). De novo review means that the appellate court reviews the grant of summary judgment or motion to dismiss without according any deference to the trial court's decision. Id. "[A]lthough the court should review the record as a whole, it must disregard all evidence favorable to the moving party that the jury is not required to believe." Reeves v. Sanderson Plumbing Products, Inc. 530 U.S. 133, 151 (2000), 120 S.Ct. 2097, 147 L.Ed.2d 105. The appellate court applies the same standard as the trial court in determining the propriety of summary judgment. Moore ex rel. Benton County v. Renick, 626 So.2d 148 (Miss. 1993); Cities of Oxford, Carthage, Louisville, Starkville and Tupelo v. Northeast Mississippi Elec. Power Ass'n, 704 So.2d 59 (Miss. 1997). When construing the meaning of a statute, this Court must seek the intention of the Legislature, and knowing it, must adopt that interpretation which will meet the Legislature's real meaning. Caldwell v. N. Miss. Med. Ctr., Inc., 956 So.2d 888, 894 (Miss. 2007).

The clearly erroneous standard applied to findings of facts made by trial courts is not applicable because the trial court "cannot try issues of facts on a Rule 56 motion; it may only determine whether there are issues to be tried." *Brown v. Credit Center, Inc.,* 444 So.2d 358 (Miss. 1983).

### **SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

The trial court's grant of Appellee's motion to dismiss should be reversed. The paramount issues raised in this appeal are whether failure to file a certificate of consultation as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 entitles a defendant to a dismissal with prejudice or whether the plaintiff is entitled to a reasonable opportunity to cure the deficiency. A line of recent cases holds that strict compliance with Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 is required, and in the absence of such, a dismissal with prejudice is warranted. *Caldwell v. North Miss. Med. Ctr., Inc. v. Brown,* 956 So.2d 888, 891 (Miss. 2007); *Walker v. Whitfiled Nursing Ctr., Inc.,* 931 So.2d 583, 588-89 (Miss. 2006). Unfortunately, this scheme does not afford litigants with an opportunity to cure any deficiencies with the requirements of the statute. Appellants contend that such a harsh and egregious result should never be rendered for a mere error on the part of an attorney.

.

ì

In the case *sub judice*, Appellant argues that the instant suit was filed well within the statute of limitations but without a certificate of consultation. Appellee filed his answer with a vague and amorphous reference to "malpractice reform laws passed in 2002 and 2003," which does not rise to the proper assertion of an affirmative defense. A few days after the answer was filed, counsel for Appellant filed a certificate of consultation well within the statute of limitations. Out of an abundance of caution, counsel for Appellant filed a motion for leave to amend the complaint. Afterwards, Appellee filed a motion to dismiss. Both the motion to dismiss and the motion for leave were brought up for hearing on the same day. Nearly six (6) months after both motions were heard, the trial court granted Appellee's motion to dismiss with prejudice. In the case *sub judcie*, Appellant contends that where a dismissal is granted for noncompliance with the statue, the dismissal must be without prejudice and/or the plaintiff must be afforded an opportunity to cure the defect.

Further, at the time the instant suit was filed, the Court had not addressed the issue of correcting deficiencies as to the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58. Only after this matter was dismissed did the Mississippi Supreme Court hand down rulings as to the type of compliance which this statute requires. Appellant argues that filing a lawsuit for medical negligence without a certificate of consultation should not be fatal where once discovery and before a motion to dismiss is heard, the Appellant made all reasonable efforts to cure the defect.

Appellant will contend that Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 should not be strictly construed so as to bar a wholly meritorious claim due to a technical failure on the part of an attorney. The statute in question was designed and drafted by the Mississippi Legislature to control a perceived problem regarding medical negligence cases; specifically to filter our possibly non-meritorious claims. It was not created to bar valid claims, nor to trump the constitutional guarantees of the federal and state constitutions. Appellant contends that because this statute infringes upon constitutional rights, this Court should review it under strict scrutiny. For these reasons, Appellant contends that the trial court's grant of dismissal was improper and violative of the spirit and legislative intent behind Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58.

ĩ.

Lastly, Appellee failed to affirmatively assert this now claimed procedural defect at the earliest state of the litigation as required by Rule 12(b) of the -Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Appellee waited until after Appellants filed their Motion for Leave to Amend to assert its Rule 12(b)(6) motion for dismissal for failure to state a claim upon

which relief can be granted. Specifically, Appellee argued that in light of Appellant failure to contemporaneously file with their complaint, an attorney's certificate of consultation or an expert disclosure in lieu of the certificate pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58, Appellant failed to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Appellant argues that Appellee had an affirmative duty to assert this affirmative, procedural defense during his first responsive pleading.

:

## ARGUMENT

I. Failure to File a Certificate of Consultation Does Not Entitle a Defendant to a Dismissal with Prejudice Where the Plaintiff is not Allowed an Opportunity to Cure the Defect.

### A. MISSISSIPPI CODE ANNOTATED SECTION 11-1-58 (2006).

Pursuant to Section 11-1-58(1) (2006):

In any action against a licensed physician, health care provider or health care practitioner for injuries or wrongful death arising out of the course of medical, surgical or other professional services where expert testimony is otherwise required by law, the complaint shall be accompanied by a certificate executed by the attorney for the plaintiff declaring that:

(a) The attorney has reviewed the facts of the case and has consulted with at least one (1) expert qualified pursuant to the Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and the Mississippi Rules of Evidence who is qualified to give expert testimony as to standard of care or negligence and who the attorney reasonably believes is knowledgable in the relevant issues involved in the particular action, and that the attorney has concluded on the basis of such review and consultation that there is a reasonable basis for the commencement of such action; or

(b) The attorney was unable to obtain the consultation required by paragraph (a) of this subsection because a limitation of time established by Section 15-1-3 would bar the action and that the consultation could not reasonably be obtained before such time expired. A certificate executed pursuant to this paragraph (b) shall be supplement by a certificate of consultation pursuant to paragraph (a) or (c) within sixty (60) days after service of the complaint or the suit shall be dismissed; or

(c) The attorney was unable to obtain the consultation required by paragraph (a) of this subsection because the attorney had made at least three (3) separate good faith attempts with three (3) different experts to obtain a consultation and that none of those contacted would agree to consultation.

Id.

The paramount issues raised in this appeal are whether failure to file a certificate of consultation as required by Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 entitles a defendant to a dismissal with prejudice and whether the plaintiff is entitled to an opportunity to cure the deficiency. In the case sub judice, the conduct giving rise to Appellant's cause of action occurred on or about May 13, 2003. R. at 3. As the Court is aware, Mississippi has a two (2) year statute of limitations period for medical malpractice claims. See Sarris v. Smith, 782 So.2d 721, 723 (Miss. 2001) (interpreting Miss. Code. Ann. § 15-1-36 (Supp. 2002)). The instant suit was filed on or about February 22, 2005, well within the statute of limitations, without a certificate of consultation nor an expert report. At the time the instant suit was filed, this Court had not addressed the issue of correcting deficiencies as to the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58. All of the defendants timely filed answers to the complaint. Thereafter, on or about May 11, 2005, Omar Nelson, Esq., counsel for Appellant, filed his certificate of consultation, well within the statute of limitations. R. at 33. Out of an abundance of caution, Omar Nelson, Esg. filed a motion for leave to amend the complaint to attempt to cure any deficiencies under the statute. Appellee filed his response to the motion for leave to amend as well as a motion to dismiss. On October 24, 2005, both the motion to dismiss and the motion for leave were brought up for hearing. On April 2, 2007, nearly six (6) months after both motions were heard and after the statue of limitations had run, the trial court granted Appellee's motion to dismiss with prejudice. R. at 183.

In the case *sub judcie*, Appellant contends that the trial court's grant of Appellee's motion to dismiss with prejudice was improper for several reasons. First, where a dismissal is granted for noncompliance with the statue, the dismissal must be without

prejudice and/or the plaintiff must be afforded an opportunity to cure the defect. It is wholly unfair to allow a dismissal with prejudice where the error is so minute and inconsequential to the merits of the case. Further, Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58(1) does not state that the dismissal shall be with prejudice. Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58(1)(b) states in part, "A certificate executed pursuant to this paragraph (b) shall be supplemented by a certificate of consultation pursuant to paragraph (a) or (c) within sixty (60) days after service of the complaint or the suit shall be dismissed." In the absence of any language in the statute as to the type of dismissal, Appellant argues that the litigant should be given the benefit of a dismissal without prejudice. "Dismissal with prejudice is an extreme and harsh sanction that deprives a litigant of the opportunity to pursue his claim, and any dismissals with prejudice are reserved for the most egregious cases." Wallace v. Jones, 572 So.2d 371, 376 (Miss. 1990) (citing Rogers v. Kroger Co., 669 F.2d 317 (5th Cir. 1982)). "In cases where the plaintiff has 'imply jumped the gun in filing suit,' we should afford them the opportunity to meet the requirements of Section 11-1-58, without depriving them of a cause of action. Comty. Hosp., v. Goodlett, 2007 Miss. LEXIS 528 (September 20, 2007) (dissenting opinion). By reading a remedy into the statute that does not exist, our Court fail to adhere to the tenets of strict construction and seeks to legislate a remedy which the Court itself has rejected as harsh and extreme. Dinet v. Gavagnie, 948 So.2d 1281, 1285 (Miss. 2007) ("dismissals should be granted only when less drastic alternatives have been considered and such lesser sanctions would not serve the best interest of justice")(citing *Wallace*, 572 So.2d at 376-77). Appellant asserts that the trial court should have afforded the Appellant a reasonable opportunity to cure the statutory defects prior to dismissing the instant action with prejudice.

Appellant argues that filing a lawsuit for medical negligence without a certificate of consultation should not be fatal where (i) this Court had not yet addressed this issue; (ii) the certificate was filed shortly after the complaint was filed; (iii) a motion for leave to amend the complaint to attempt to attach the certificate with the complaint; and (iv) any prejudice to the defendants was minimal at best. Appellant attempted to cure the defect by filing a motion for leave to amend her complaint which the trial court heard five (5) months after it was filed. After Appellant filed her motion for leave to amend, counsel for the Appellee and other defendants filed their motions to dismiss. Then, nearly six (6) months after the hearing, the trial court granted Appellee's motion to dismiss with prejudice.

This Court now requires strict compliance in examining whether the requirements of a statute have been satisfied. *Caldwell*, 956 So.2d at 891; *Walker*, 931 So.2d at 588-89. However, the instant case is distinguishable from *Caldwell* and *Walker* in that before the statute of limitation had run, counsel for Appellant in the instant action filed the certificate of consultation. Further, out of an abundance of caution, counsel for Appellant filed a motion for leave to amend the complaint. Unlike the holdings in *Caldwell* and *Walker*, Appellant's counsel make all reasonable efforts to cure the statutory defect. Essentially, after reasonable efforts have been made to cure the defects under Miss. Code. Ann. § 11-1-58, a dismissal with prejudice is wholly inappropriate where the error is totally harmless and unintentional. Counsel for Appellant made reasonable efforts to ensure that the letter and the spirit of the statute were followed so as not to prejudice these defendants. Appellant respectfully submits that Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58(1)(a) was never designed to bar valid claims, nor to trump the constitutional guarantees of the federal and state constitutions. Further, the statute in question was designed and drafted by the Mississippi Legislature to control a perceived problem regarding medical negligence cases. Appellant submits that the statute in question was specifically created to filter out possibly non-meritorious claims. However, the spirit of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 should not be strictly construed so as to bar a wholly meritorious claim due to a technical failure on the part of an attorney.

This argument is eloquently captured by Justice Oliver Diaz, Jr. writing for the dissent in *Walker*. *Id.* at 895-897. Justice Diaz writes, "[f]or 'a cause of action is a species of property protected by the *Fourteenth Amendment's Due Process Clause*." *(citing Logan v. Zimmerman Brush Co.*, 455 U.S. 422, 428, 102 S. Ct. 1148, 1154, 71 L. Ed. 2d 265 (1982)) *Id.* The dissent proceeds by declaring, "[u]nder the majority's interpretation of the statute at hand, the Caldwells are denied a right to pursue their claims without due process [of law]." *Id.* As an alternative to barring a litigant's right to his day in court, Justice Diaz suggest following the California system which subject attorneys to sanctions for failure to comply with technical matters. Also, Justice Diaz notes that an exception for good faith errors should be made so as to prevent such a harsh result when an attorney can demonstrate that the omission of a certificate was simply a mistake. Justice Diaz writes:

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