IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI NUMBER 2007-CA-00593

CHARLIE DOYLE WIMLEY, INDIVIDUALLY AND ON BEHALF OF ALL WRONGFUL DEATH BENEFICIARIES OF JEANETTE DOYLE

APPELLANTS

v.

NO.: 2007-CA-00593

BILL REID, CRNA, AND JOHN DOES 1-10

APPELLEES

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF LEFLORE COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

APPELLEES' BRIEF

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

R. MARK HODGES

LOREN H. PRATT (Wise Carter Child & Caraway, P.A. 401 E. Capitol Street, Suite 600 Post Office Box 651 Jackson, Mississippi 39205 Telephone: 601.968.5500 Facsimile: 601.968.5593

Attorneys for Appellees

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

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

Code Ann. § 11-1-58 (Supp. 2005)." *Walker*, 931 So. 2d at 588. The plaintiff in *Walker* failed to comply with § 11-1-58 by attaching a certificate of expert consultation to the complaint. *Id.* at 586, 589. The plaintiff filed the complaint on April 7, 2004 and then filed the certificate on September 8, 2005. *Id.* at 589. When the plaintiff filed the certificate, discovery was underway. *Id.* at 585. Because the plaintiff failed to attach the certificate, the defendant raised the "defense failure to state a claim on which relief can be granted" and subsequently moved for summary judgment. *Id.* at 585-86. The trial judge granted the motion for summary judgment and dismissed the plaintiff's action with prejudice. *Id.* at 587.

On appeal, the plaintiff "concede[d] her failure to *strictly* comply with Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58(1)(a)" but argued she "*substantially* complied with Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58(1)(a)" since her attorney eventually filed a certificate. *Id.* at 588-90. The Court held that a plaintiff must strictly comply with § 11-1-58 and file a certificate of expert consultation or an expert report at the time the complaint is filed. *Id.* at 589. The Court affirmed the trial court's grant of summary judgment and dismissal with prejudice. *Id.* at 592.

After the Mississippi Supreme Court decided the *Walker* case, it held once again that strict compliance is required for § 11-1-58 in *Caldwell v. North Mississippi Medical Center, Inc.*, 956 So. 2d 888, 894-95 (Miss. 2007). In fact, the plaintiffs in *Caldwell* raised the same issue as the plaintiff in *Walker*, namely, "whether strict compliance with the statutory requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 is required." *Caldwell*, 956 So. 2d at 894. As in *Walker*, the plaintiffs in *Caldwell* argued they substantially complied with § 11-1-58 when they filed an expert disclosure after the complaint had been filed. *Id.* at 891. The Court held that the plaintiffs failed to strictly comply with § 11-1-58; thus, the Court upheld the trial court's order of dismissal.

The *Walker* and *Caldwell* cases are completely dispositive of the present lawsuit, and as such, this Court should uphold the trial court's order granting dismissal with prejudice. Like the scenario in *Walker* and *Caldwell*, Ms. Wimley failed to attach a certificate of expert consultation or an expert report to the complaint. R. 1, 10, 22, 37. As in *Walker*, Ms. Wimley untimely filed a certificate. R. 33. Ms. Wimley failed to file a certificate until seventy-eight days after she filed the complaint. R. 33.

Ms. Wimley also concedes her failure to *strictly* comply with § 11-1-58 like the plaintiffs in *Walker* and *Caldwell*, and Ms. Wimley premises her argument for reversal on the already rejected standard of *substantial compliance* with the statute. R. 37-53. Ms. Wimley argues that the late filing of the certificate should not be fatal since it was filed "shortly after the complaint was filed" and Ms. Wimley tried "to cure the defect by filing a motion for leave to amend her complaint." *See Appellant Brief p. 17*. The argument put forth by Ms. Wimley is purely one for substantial compliance, contravening the strict compliance requirements of *Walker*, *Caldwell*, and the statute itself. Ms. Wimley's "after the fact" efforts are ineffectual in the face of a standard of strict compliance, just like the efforts of the plaintiffs in *Walker* and *Caldwell*. Ms. Wimley simply failed to meet the requirements of § 11-1-58, and the trial court's judgment of dismissal must be upheld as it was in *Walker* and *Caldwell*.

The Mississippi Court of Appeals has also considered the requirements of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 in *Nelson v. Baptist Mem'l Hosp.-N. Miss. Inc.*, 2005-CA-02058-COA (Miss. Ct. App. May 8, 2007). In *Nelson*, the plaintiffs failed to provide a certificate of consultation with their original complaint or provide pre-suit notice pursuant to § 15-1-36(15). *Id.* at ¶ 3. The plaintiffs filed their original complaint in 2003, later filed an amended complaint with the required certificate, and then served process for the first time. *Id.* at ¶ 3. The trial judge

dismissed the plaintiff's medical malpractice action with prejudice based on their failure to strictly comply with § 11-1-58 and § 15-1-36(15), as well as ineffective service of process. *Id.* at \P 5.

The Court of Appeals reversed the order of dismissal with prejudice, and rendered a judgment of dismissal without prejudice. *Id.* at \P 23. In reversing the trial court, the appellate court distinguished the facts of *Nelson* from *Walker*. *Id.* at \P 19. The *Nelson* court stated that the plaintiffs "clearly" consulted an expert before filing a complaint, and the plaintiffs had not waited until discovery "to remedy their failure to file the certificate." *Id.* Furthermore, the court noted that the plaintiffs served an amended complaint with the certificate attached, which the defendants received before they filed an answer. *Id.* Indeed, since the original, defective complaint was never served, no answer was due. *Cf. id.* (stating the defendants "were not forced to respond to a complaint lacking an attorney's certificate.") The *Nelson* plaintiffs could have voluntarily dismissed their complaint and refiled a separate suit instead of an amended complaint.

Besides distinguishing the facts from *Walker*, the *Nelson* court also based its decision on the fact that "[t]he statute at issue . . . had only been in effect a few months when [the] case was filed." The court's holding also took into account prior cases construing the pre-suit notice letter requirements of § 15-1-36(15). *Id.* at ¶¶ 22-23. The court specifically stated, "We find . . . that the original complaint filed by the Nelsons should be dismissed without prejudice for failing to attach an attorney's certificate *and* for failing to give sixty days prior notice. *Id.* (emphasis added). The court noted dismissal was the proper remedy, but recent holdings by the Mississippi Supreme Court required dismissal without prejudice *for failing to serve pre-suit notice. Id.* at ¶¶ 20, 22 (emphasis added). According to the court, the plaintiffs' errors were not "egregious"

enough to warrant dismissal with prejudice, "especially in light of the fact that they attempted to correct those errors *before* they ever served process." *Id.* at \P 23 (emphasis added).

The order of dismissal with prejudice, entered by Judge Hines, is in accord with the *Nelson* holding. R. 183-184. The facts of the present case are virtually identical to *Walker supra* and do not resemble the facts in *Nelson*. Unlike *Nelson*, Ms. Wimley failed to ever serve a complaint that had the required certificate attached. R. 1, 10, 22, 37. Mr. Reid responded to Ms. Wimley's complaint without the benefit of a certificate or expert report. R. 1, 10, 22, 37. Nothing in the record supports the notion that Ms. Wimley "clearly" consulted an expert *before* filing the complaint, and discovery was already underway when Ms. Wimley attempted to correct her error. R. 18, 28, 29, 33, 37-53. Nor can Ms. Wimley point to the statute being "in effect a few months" when she filed suit: it was more than two years old in February of 2005. Because Ms. Wimley failed to timely comply with § 11-1-58 before service of process, the error warranted dismissal with prejudice.²

The holding in *Nelson* was also due to the plaintiff's failure to comply with the notice provision of § 15-1-36(15) and that appears to be what the Court of Appeals felt mandated dismissal *without* prejudice. *Nelson*, 2005-CA-02058-COA, at ¶¶ 20, 22 (emphasis added). Judge Hines' decision was based solely upon Ms. Wimley's failure to include the certificate of expert consultation. R. 174, 183-184; T. 1-12. In the end, the *Nelson* decision also supports Judge Hines' order, though that decision is not binding on this Court. The controlling authority is *Walker supra*, and *Walker* holds that the dismissal with prejudice in favor of Bill Reid, CRNA, must be affirmed.

²While *Nelson* is clearly distinguishable, it also seems considerably at odds with this Court's controlling decisions in *Walker* and *Caldwell*.

(ii) Ms. Wimley fails to support her argument with authoritative case law.

Ms. Wimley incorrectly relies on cases interpreting Miss. R. Civ. P. 41(b) governing involuntary dismissal, and fails to cite any binding authority regarding § 11-1-58 or Miss. R. Civ. P. 12(b)(6) in the context of a medical malpractice suit. *See Appellant Brief p. 16.* Furthermore, none of the Rule 41(b) cases cited by Ms. Wimley are factually analogous to the present case. *Id.* In fact, both *Wallace v. Jones*, 572 So. 2d 371 (Miss. 1990), and *Rogers v. Kroger Co.*, 669 F. 2d 317 (5th Cir. 1982), were about a dismissal for failure to prosecute. *Id. Dinet v. Gavagnie*, 948 So. 2d 1281 (Miss. 2007), involved a dismissal pursuant to Rule 41(b) for failure to obtain admission *pro hac vice*. These cases have no application here where this Court has already rendered two decisions (*Walker* and *Caldwell*) directly on point.

The only citations Ms. Wimley provides this Court in support of her position are dissenting opinions. See Appellant Brief p. 16, 18. First, Ms. Wimley cites Community Hospital of Jackson, Mississippi v. Goodlett ex rel. Goodlett, 2006-CA-01629-SCT (Miss. Sept. 20, 2007). The Goodlett case involved a plaintiff who tried to assert she strictly complied with § 11-1-58(4), which permits a plaintiff to file a certificate of expert consultation ninety days after a request for medical records. Id. at ¶ 11. At the time the plaintiff requested the medical records, she was not a real party in interest and had no standing to bring suit.³ Id. at ¶¶ 11-12. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that the plaintiff failed to strictly comply with § 11-1-58, since only a real party in interest could request the medical records and dismissal was warranted. Id. at ¶ 13. The court remanded, "since the trial court [was] in a better position to know whether the order of dismissal should be with or without prejudice." Id. at ¶ 14.

³The plaintiff prematurely brought suit on behalf of her mother before her mother assigned the power of attorney to the plaintiff. *Id.* at \P 12.

The *Goodlett* case is supportive of Mr. Reid's position that this Court should affirm the trial court's judgment of dismissal with prejudice. The Mississippi Supreme Court again affirmed that a plaintiff must strictly comply with § 11-1-58 or dismissal is required. The *Goodlett* court also stated that dismissal can be *with prejudice* if the trial court, in this case the Circuit Court of Leflore County, decides that dismissal with prejudice is the proper remedy. *See id* at ¶ 14. Judge Hines carefully considered the multiple motions to dismiss filed by Mr. Reid and his Co-defendants, held a hearing, took the motions under advisement, and ultimately ruled that all the Defendants should be dismissed with prejudice. R. 174, 183-184; T. 1-12. Thus, the *Goodlett* majority opinion supports affirming the judgment of the Circuit Court of Leflore County.

(iii) Ms. Wimley's constitutional arguments are procedurally barred.

The Record is devoid of any claim, argument, or reference by Ms. Wimley challenging the constitutionality of § 11-1-58, and as such, the constitutional arguments put forth by the Ms. Wimley are procedurally barred. *See Appellant Brief p. 18-19*. In order for the Mississippi Supreme Court to consider the constitutional arguments raised in Ms. Wimley's brief, she must "specifically [have] plead" the constitutionality of § 11-1-58. *Pickens v. Donaldson*, 748 So. 2d 684, 691 (Miss. 1999) (holding plaintiff was procedurally barred from challenging the constitutionality of the Mississippi Tort Claims Act because she failed to raise the issue in the court below). Ms. Wimley failed to raise the argument in the trial court proceedings, in any pleading, motion, response, or oral argument, and the issue is not preserved for appeal. *Id.* Furthermore, Ms. Wimley did not give any notice to the Attorney General of her intent to challenge the constitutionality of § 11-1-58, as required by to Miss. R. Civ. P. 24(d) and Miss. R. App. P. 44(a). *Id.*; Miss. R. Civ. P. 24(d) (requiring notification to Attorney General in order for

the Attorney General to intervene and argue the constitutionality of a statute); Miss. R. App. P. 44(a) (requiring party to serve a brief about the constitutionality of a statute to the Attorney General). Because Ms. Wimley challenges the constitutionality of § 11-1-58 for the first time on appeal, this Court's established precedent requires that it decline to address that challenge. *See Cockrell Pearl River Valley Water Supply Dist.*, 865 So. 2d 357, 360 (Miss. 2004) (holding the "law is well established" that a plaintiff's failure to raise an issue of constitutionality in the trial court proceedings bars argument in Mississippi Supreme Court).

(iv) Ms. Wimley's argument that Mr. Reid failed to raise a Rule 12(b)(6) motion is procedurally barred and unsupported by the Record.

Ms. Wimley also raises for the first time on appeal the sufficiency of Mr. Reid's affirmative defense in his answer. *See Appellant Brief p. 19-22*. Since Ms. Wimley failed to argue at the trial level the alleged vagueness of the Mr. Reid's affirmative defense, she is procedurally barred from arguing that alleged deficiency on appeal. *See Crowe v. Smith*, 603 So. 2d 301, 305 (Miss. 1992) ("Under Mississippi law, an appellant is not entitled to raise a new issue on appeal, since to do so prevents the trial court from having an opportunity to address the alleged error."). Ms. Wimley failed to give the trial court the opportunity to address the alleged error; therefore, she did not preserve the issue for appeal.

Though Ms. Wimley failed to preserve for appeal the sufficiency of Mr. Reid's answer and affirmative defenses, Mr. Reid did in fact properly assert a motion to dismiss based on § 11-1-58. R. 22. The *Walker* case supports Mr. Reid's contention that his affirmative defense was legally sufficient. *See Walker v. Whitfield Nursing Ctr., Inc.*, 931 So. 2d 583, 585-86, 591 (Miss. 2006). As previously noted *supra*, the plaintiff in *Walker* failed to attach a certificate of expert consultation as required by §11-1-58. *Id.* at 586. The defendant answered and asserted the

defense "failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted." *Id.* at 585. The defendant then moved for summary judgment, specifically asserting the plaintiff's failure to comply with § 11-1-58. *Id.* at 586. On appeal, the plaintiff contended the defendant "waived its right to assert Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58 as a defense because it did not assert this statutory defense in its answer." *Id.* at 591. The Mississippi Supreme Court held that the plaintiff "did fail to state a claim upon which relief can be granted due to the [plaintiff's] blatant failure to comply with the notice prerequisites of Miss. Code Ann. § 11-1-58." *Id.* Since the defendant asserted a motion to dismiss in his answer, the complaint was properly dismissed with prejudice. *Id.*

Going further than the defendant in *Walker*, Mr. Reid included a defense <u>and</u> a motion to dismiss in his answer. R. 22. Mr. Reid specifically included in his answer: "FIRST DEFENSE/MOTION TO DISMISS" pleading that, "Plaintiffs have failed to comply with the requirements of the medical malpractice reform laws passed in 2002 and 2003." R. 22. Section 11-1-58 was one of the central pieces of the medical malpractice reform legislation passed in the 2002 extraordinary legislative session, which was convened to address the medical liability crisis. *See* Copy of the 2002 Session Law, Addendum A. Mr. Reid thus clearly included within his defense and motion to dismiss Ms. Wimley's failure to comply with the medical malpractice tort reform laws, which was considerably more detail than that provided by the "form" Rule 12(b)(6) defense plead by the defendant in *Walker*.

Furthermore, following Mr. Reid's answer and defenses, Ms. Wimley untimely attempted to comply with § 11-1-58. R. 33, 37-53. Ms. Wimley cannot reasonably argue that Mr. Reid's answer failed to put her on notice of the failure to comply with § 11-1-58. Mr. Reid clearly complied with Miss. R. Civ. P. 8(c) and 12(b)(6) when he alerted Ms. Wimley to her failure to abide by the medical malpractice tort reform laws. Because Mr. Reid affirmatively plead a motion to dismiss in his answer, Ms. Wimley's argument (which was waived below in any event) is without merit.

CONCLUSION

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